THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Aug 13 2024

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

Circuit Court Case No. 2020-CP-22-00373
Appellate Case No. 2023-001829

Jones Nissan, Inc.,

Respondent,

v.

THAG, LLC; Nissan of Sumter, LLC; Terry L. Holmes; and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Incorporated, Defendants,

Of which THAG, LLC and Nissan of Sumter, LLC are the Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

August 13, 2024

/s/ Christopher M. Ramsey

Christopher M. Ramsey
Bostic Law Group, P.A.
2236 Ashley Crossing Drive
(843) 571-2525

Fax: (843) 571-7050

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Jones Nissan and against THAG and Nissan of Sumter in the amount of \$389,555.98, without any set-off for the settlement amount of \$125,000.00 paid to Jones Nissan by former Co-Defendant and alleged joint obligor Merrill Lynch?
2. Whether the Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Jones Nissan and against THAG and Nissan of Sumter in the amount of \$389,555.98, where THAG and Nissan of Sumter came forward with affidavit testimony that Jones Nissan breached the contract at issue by over-charging Nissan of Sumter for lot rent, offering insufficient space for Nissan of Sumter to display its inventory, and owning and operating a competing auto dealership next door to Nissan of Sumter?
3. Whether the Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Jones Nissan and against THAG and Nissan of Sumter in the amount of \$389,555.98, where discovery was still open and Jones Nissan had failed to respond to THAG and Nissan of Sumter's Interrogatories and Requests for Production, resulting in a Motion to Compel which was pending at the time the Summary Judgment was granted?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jones Nissan filed the instant lawsuit against THAG, Nissan of Sumter, and Terry Holmes alleging the breach of a sale and financing agreement for an automobile dealership in Sumter, South Carolina. Jones Nissan amended its Complaint to add claims against Merrill Lynch that it failed to honor a collateral agreement and allowed those funds to be diverted. Jones Nissan later settled its claims against Merrill Lynch for \$125,000. While discovery was still open, and after Defendants had served Jones Nissan with Interrogatories and Requests for Production, Jones Nissan filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. At the time of the hearing on July 13, 2023, Jones Nissan had not answered written discovery and Defendants had filed a Motion to Compel those responses. Judge Curtis granted the Motion for Summary Judgment in part, ruling that Jones Nissan was entitled to judgment as a matter of law against THAG and Nissan of Sumter on its breach of contract and conversion claims in the amount of \$389,555.98, and that Defendants' counterclaims based on misrepresentation of the value of the dealership, charging exorbitant rent, and violation of the non-compete clause would be dismissed. Judge Curtis held that genuine issues of material fact prevented judgment on the remaining claims and counterclaims. On September 29, 2023, Defendants filed a timely Motion for Reconsideration and asked Judge Curtis to allow further discovery on the contents and effect of the settlement with Merrill Lynch, and whether that would entitle THAG and Nissan of Sumter to an offset of the Judgment in the amount of \$125,000. Judge Curtis filed an Order addressing these concerns and clarifying that she was not making a ruling on the offset. This appeal followed on November 22, 2023.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court of Appeals reviews the lower court's grant of a motion for summary judgment *de novo*. Since summary judgment is an extreme remedy, and deprives a party of its right to trial, the remedy should be cautiously invoked. A motion for summary judgment is appropriate where the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the

affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. SCRCP 56(c); Baughman v. American Tel. & Tel. Co., 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1991); Baird v. City of Charleston, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E.2d 69 (1999). In making this determination the evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Law v. S.C. Dep't of Corrs., 368 S.C. 424, 434, 629 S.E.2d 642, 648 (2006). See also The Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Samuel E. Friedman, S.C. Op. no. 28173 (Aug. 23, 2023) (clarifying that the “mere scintilla” standard does not apply, but rather the “genuine issue of material fact” as stated in the Rule).

FACTS

In 2016, Nissan Motor Company approached THAG, LLC and asked it to look into purchasing the Jones Nissan dealership in Sumter because it was under-performing by Nissan's standards (R. p. 470, page 13, lines 11-15). Thus, at Nissan Motor Company's direction, THAG, LLC began discussions with Jones Nissan about purchasing this dealership (R. p. 470, page 15, lines 2-14).

Jones Nissan agreed to sell its dealership to THAG, LLC for \$2.25 million and the parties entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement in July 2016. This agreement was subsequently amended several times over the following months and assigned by THAG to Nissan of Sumter, LLC. Nissan Motor Company valued the dealership at \$1.6 million and agreed to extend financing for the sale to this amount only. Jones Nissan offered to finance the remaining \$650,000 of the purchase price upon execution of a promissory note from THAG, LLC (See generally R. pp. 21-36).

From the outset of the purchase, there were problems. Knowing that Nissan of Sumter would have no choice but to use the Jones Nissan lot while it waited for the new dealership facility to be constructed, Jones Nissan charged Nissan of Sumter an exorbitant amount of rent to use the Jones Nissan lot. Jones Nissan demanded \$27,500 in monthly rent, when the market rent value

for the lot was \$9,186 per month (R. p. 474, ¶ 6). After 24 months, Jones Nissan raised the rent to \$32,000 per month. Id. Whereas Jones Nissan had promised that a 1.5 acre lot would be made available along with a building on the premises, it delivered only a 0.25 acre lot and no building, which was insufficient space for Nissan of Sumter to display its inventory (R. p. 474, ¶¶ 7-9). Of particular concern, Jones Nissan continued to own and operate a competing car dealership next door to Nissan of Sumter, which was in violation of the asset purchase agreement (R. p. 474, ¶ 10).

Notwithstanding these concerns, and what Nissan of Sumter alleges were breaches of the parties' agreements, Nissan of Sumter continued to make regular payments to Jones Nissan under the promissory note, until around June 2019 when the cumulative effect of Jones Nissan's breaches frustrated the Nissan of Sumter business and rendered any further performance impossible (R. p. 474, ¶ 4). Nissan of Sumter's floor plan loan was called and it was forced to turn over the dealership to new ownership in exchange for no consideration (R. p. 473, page 205, lines 9-19). This lawsuit followed.

All of the key issues in this case are disputed because THAG and Nissan of Sumter maintain that Jones Nissan's failure to perform under the contract excuses any non-performance on their part. During his deposition, Terry Holmes denied that he owes the \$360,000 in outstanding principal that is claimed by Jones Nissan (R. p. 470, page 16, lines 6-17). Mr. Holmes denied that he owed interest on this amount or attorney's fees (R. p. 471-472, page 28 line 12 – page 29 line 12). Mr. Holmes denied that Nissan of Sumter breached the Asset Purchase Agreement or the Promissory Note (R. p. 472, page 29 line 13 – page 30 line 25).

With no scheduling order limiting the period for discovery, the parties had been actively engaged in propounding and answering discovery until this appeal was filed. Defendants responded to three (3) separate sets of written discovery propounded by Jones Nissan. Jones Nissan took the depositions of Defendant Terry Holmes and the attorney who assisted Nissan of

Sumter with its purchase of the dealership, Greg Weathers. On April 26, 2023, Defendants submitted Interrogatories and Requests for Production to Plaintiff. Jones Nissan failed to respond, and following a Rule 11 letter and no response, Defendants filed a Motion to Compel those discovery responses on July 10, 2023 (R. pp. 131-139).

On July 13, 2023, Judge Curtis heard the Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment. During oral arguments, counsel for Plaintiff recognized the facts as set forth in the Terry Holmes affidavit, but encouraged the Court to look at it skeptically as just "smoke and mirrors" designed to avoid summary judgment (R. p. 504, line 24 – p. 505, line 9). Counsel for Plaintiff admitted that the Plaintiff had reached a settlement with Merrill Lynch and had received \$125,000 in exchange for dismissing it as a defendant, but argued that this amount should not apply as a set-off (R. p. 520, lines 16-20). Finally, Plaintiff's counsel took the position that the case was about 3 years old, had been up for trial, and therefore the parties had been afforded sufficient time to conduct any necessary discovery (R. p. 519, line 24 – p. 520, line 15).

ARGUMENTS

The trial court's grant of partial summary judgment in favor of Plaintiff and against THAG and Nissan of Sumter should be reversed for three primary reasons: (1) The admitted settlement of \$125,000.00 with Merrill Lynch should have been applied as an off-set of the Judgment; (2) Terry Holmes' affidavit testimony stating the factual bases for a breach of contract by Jones Nissan was effectively ignored, when in fact it established genuine issues of material fact for the jury to consider; and (3) The summary judgment was at best pre-mature because the parties had not finished discovery and Jones Nissan had not responded to the Plaintiff's written requests, necessitating a Motion to Compel.

- 1. The Trial Court Erred in Declining to Apply a Set-Off of \$125,000.00 to the Judgment for the Settlement Proceeds Paid by Merrill Lynch**

"[T]here can be only one satisfaction for an injury or wrong." Hawkins v. Pathology Assocs. of Greenville, P.A., 330 S.C. 92, 113, 498 S.E.2d 395, 407 (Ct.App.1998). "The right to setoff has existed at common law in South Carolina for over 100 years." Riley v. Ford Motor Co., 414 S.C. 185, 195, 777 S.E.2d 824, 830 (2015). When the settlement is for the same injury, the non-settling defendant's right to a setoff arises by operation of law. Ellis v. Oliver, 335 S.C. 106, 112, 515 S.E.2d 268, 271–72 (Ct.App. 1999). Under this circumstance, "[s]ection 15–38–50 grants the court no discretion...in applying a set-off." 335 S.C. at 113, 515 S.E.2d at 272 (quoted with approval by Smith v. Widener, 397 S.C. 468, 724 S.E.2d 188 (Ct.App. 2012).

S.C. Code § 15-38-50 provides in relevant part, "When a release or a covenant not to sue or not to enforce judgment is given in good faith to one of two or more persons liable in tort for the same injury or the same wrongful death: (1) it does not discharge any of the other tortfeasors from liability for the injury or wrongful death unless its terms so provide, but it reduces the claim against the others to the extent of any amount stipulated by the release or the covenant, or in the amount of the consideration paid for it, whichever is the greater."

In this case, the elements of Section 15-38-50 are met. Plaintiff's counsel confirmed to the Court that a settlement had been reached with Merrill Lynch for the amount of \$125,000. Plaintiff alleges the same "injury" against both THAG/Nissan of Sumter and Merrill Lynch. In its Amended Complaint, Plaintiff contended that THAG and Nissan of Sumter converted the funds that were kept in the Merrill Lynch collateral account, and Plaintiff further contended that Merrill Lynch was negligent in allowing these same funds to be transferred out of the account. The statute is applicable to "tortfeasors:" Plaintiff asserted torts against both THAG/Nissan of Sumter (conversion and civil theft) and against Merrill Lynch (negligence). Finally, in its prayer for relief, the Plaintiff asked for a "joint and several" judgment against all Defendants and for "punitive damages" which are exclusively awarded for tortious conduct. By its own admission, the Plaintiff

contends that the Defendants are joint tortfeasors and so Section 15-38-50 automatically applies to set-off any judgment by the amount of a settlement obtained from a co-Defendant.

2. The Trial Court Erred in Entering Summary Judgment Against THAG and Nissan of Sumter Where Terry Holmes Produced Affidavit Testimony that Jones Nissan Breached the Contract

As the plaintiff, Jones Nissan bears the burden of proof as to each and every element of its claims against each one of the Defendants. Thus, in order to prevail on its motion for summary judgment, Jones Nissan must demonstrate that there is no set of facts which, if presented by Defendants and accepted by the finder of fact, along with all reasonable inferences in Defendants' favor, would absolve or excuse the Defendants from liability, either in whole or in part.

In this case, THAG and Nissan of Sumter presented sufficient factual issues which preclude summary judgment against them. According to Terry Holmes, the Defendants breached their obligations under the Asset Purchase Agreement and Promissory Note by over-charging Nissan of Sumter for lot rent, offering insufficient space for Nissan of Sumter to display its inventory, and owning and operating a competing auto dealership next door to Nissan of Sumter. These breaches were significant enough to cause the financial ruin of the Defendants within 2 years and their subsequent inability to make further payments to Jones Nissan. Presented with this evidence, the finder of fact could reasonably conclude that Jones Nissan breached the contract and thus the Defendants' performance was excused.

Plaintiff argues that Mr. Holmes' testimony should be viewed skeptically and as "smoke and mirrors" to avoid summary judgment, but this mischaracterizes the Court's role. It is not for the trial judge to determine credibility, or whether a witness has been impeached by an absence of similar statements in the past. Instead, it is the prerogative of the finder of fact to ascertain the believability of a witness. Plaintiff's criticisms of Mr. Holmes' testimony go to its weight, and not its admissibility. Taken in the light most favorable to the non-movant, Mr. Holmes' testimony

establishes genuine issues of material fact concerning Jones Nissan's non-performance under the contract.

3. The Trial Court Erred in Entering Summary Judgment While Discovery Was Still Open, Jones Nissan Had Failed to Answer Discovery, and a Motion to Compel Was Pending

Summary judgment must not be granted until the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery. Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co., 306 S.C. 101, 112, 410 S.E.2d 537, 543 (1991). A party claiming summary judgment is premature because they have not been provided a full and fair opportunity to conduct discovery must advance a good reason why the time was insufficient under the facts of the case, and why further discovery would uncover additional relevant evidence and create a genuine issue of material fact. Guinan v. Tenet Healthsystems of Hilton Head, Inc., 383 S.C. 48, 54-55, 677 S.E.2d 32, 36 (Ct. App. 2009).

In this case, the Defendants submitted discovery requests to Plaintiff on April 26, 2023. Plaintiff filed its motion for summary judgment on May 12, 2023. On June 23, 2023, counsel for Defendants sent a Rule 11 communication asking Plaintiff to respond to its discovery within ten (10) days so that he would not have to file a motion to compel. Unfortunately, no responses were received and Defendants filed a Motion to Compel Discovery on July 10, 2023. Written discovery responses were finally received on September 13, 2023, the day before the Motion to Compel was to be heard, but after the trial court had already made a decision on the Motion for Summary Judgment.¹

The discovery requests at issue were central to the Plaintiff's case, for example:

Interrogatory No. 4: Set forth an itemized statement of all damages.

Interrogatory No. 6: For each person known to the party or counsel to be a witness concerning the facts of the case, set forth either a summary sufficient to inform the other party of

¹ Judge Curtis conveyed her decision to the parties via e-mail on August 16, 2023, and her formal Order followed on September 19, 2023.

the important facts known to or observed by such witness, or provide a copy of any written or recorded statements taken from such witnesses.

Interrogatory No. 9: Please list the amount and date of all payments made by Defendants to Plaintiff and include any other credit(s) which Plaintiff agrees Defendants are entitled to.


Interrogatory No. 11: Please list the amount of any settlement(s) concerning Plaintiff's claims which have been paid by a party other than Defendants, including but not limited to Merrill Lynch.

Plaintiff argues that Defendants had plenty of time to conduct discovery. However, at the time that Defendants submitted written discovery requests, no motion for summary judgment was pending and both parties were participating in discovery, including a deposition taken by Plaintiff as recently as June 22, 2023 – just 3 weeks prior to its motion for summary judgment being heard. Unfortunately, the Defendants did not have the same opportunity to complete necessary discovery prior to the motion for summary judgment being decided.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the trial court's decision to grant summary judgment in favor of Plaintiff as to its claims for breach of contract and conversion in the amount of \$389,555.98 against THAG and Nissan of Sumter, and to dismiss Defendants' counterclaims as they relate to misrepresentation of the value of the dealership, charging exorbitant rent, and violation of the non-compete clause, should be reversed.

August 13, 2024



Christopher M. Ramsey
Bostic Law Group, P.A.
2236 Ashley Crossing Drive
(843) 571-2525
Fax: (843) 571-7050
cramsey@bosticlaw.com
*Attorneys for THAG, LLC and Nissan