**RECEIVED**

**Jul 30 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-001829

---

Jones Nissan, Inc.,

Respondent,

v.

THAG, LLC; Nissan of Sumter, LLC; Terry L. Holmes;  
and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Incorporated, Defendants,

Of which THAG, LLC and Nissan of Sumter,  
LLC, are the

Appellants.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

W. Mullins McLeod, Jr.  
John D. Hudson, Jr.  
Nicholas A. Charles  
MCLEOD LAW GROUP, LLC  
1518 Richland Street  
Post Office Box 2014  
Columbia, SC 29202  
(803) 451-6057

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

Regardless, Appellants do not cite any evidence in the record supporting their allegations about the amount of the rent. The Asset Purchase Agreement does not provide for rent or the lease of any property. Their unsupported contentions that they were unhappy with the terms of a separate contract (which is not in the record) is not a defense to their undisputed failure to make the payments required under the Asset Purchase Agreement. The circuit court properly rejected Appellants' arguments.

As to Appellants' second allegation, they do not even explain the source of the purported requirement that Jones Nissan offer sufficient space "for Nissan of Sumter to display its inventory," nor do they cite any evidence supporting their contention that Jones Nissan breached that purported requirement. (App. Br. 7). The Asset Purchase Agreement does not provide for the specific amount of space alleged by Appellants. Thus, Appellants again contend an alleged breach of some other purported contract (which is not in the record) is somehow a defense to their undisputed failure to make the required payments under the Asset Purchase Agreement. *See Silver v. Abstract Pools & Spas, Inc.*, 376 S.C. 585, 592, 658 S.E.2d 539, 543 (Ct. App. 2008) (explaining a court cannot "look beyond the four corners to discern the parties['] intentions" if a contract "is clear, explicit, unambiguous, and capable of only one reasonable interpretation"). The circuit court properly rejected Appellants' unsupported contentions.

Finally, as to Appellants' bare assertion that Jones Nissan violated the terms of a noncompete clause in the Asset Purchase Agreement, the circuit court properly found the Asset Purchase Agreement did not prevent Jones Nissan from operating a competing car dealership. (Sept. 19, 2023 Order at 10, R. 15; Asset Purchase Agr. ¶ 12(b)(vii), R. 76–77). Rather, it states that Jones Nissan will not directly or indirectly compete with Appellants "by engaging in any new *Nissan brand* motor vehicle sales or service dealership" for a five-year period. (*Id.*). Appellants presented no evidence that Jones Nissan breached the terms of the noncompete, and they do not cite any such evidence in their brief. They do not even allege that Jones Nissan operated a competing *Nissan* dealership. The circuit court therefore properly rejected Appellants' argument.

This case is simple—Jones Nissan performed its contractual obligations under the Asset Purchase Agreement and sold the dealership to Appellants, but Appellants failed to make all required payments and drained the collateral funds from the Merrill Lynch account. They cannot

dispute this simple conclusion. In fact, they have admitted their breaches throughout this litigation. The circuit court properly granted summary judgment in favor of Jones Nissan. Their attempts to muddy the case with vague references to phantom breaches of other contracts that are not in the record does not create a *genuine* issue of material fact. See *Kitchen Planners*, 440 S.C. at 463, 892 S.E.2d at 301 (“[I]t is not sufficient for a party to create an inference that is not reasonable or an issue of fact that is not genuine.”).

**B. The circuit court properly granted summary judgment on Jones Nissan’s conversion claim because Appellants drained the Merrill Lynch account despite Jones Nissan’s security interest and entitlement to exercise exclusive control over the account if Appellants defaulted on their debt obligation.**

The circuit court properly granted summary judgment on Jones Nissan’s conversion claim based on Appellants’ undisputed draining of the Merrill Lynch account. As an initial matter, Appellants do not even contend in their brief that the circuit court erred in granting summary judgment on Jones Nissan’s conversion claim, nor do they raise any argument or cite any evidence contradicting Jones Nissan’s claim that Appellants converted the collateralized funds in the Merrill Lynch account. For that reason alone, the Court should affirm the circuit court’s summary judgment order because Appellants have abandoned the conversion issue and therefore have failed to raise a dispositive issue on appeal. See *Equivest*, 422 S.C. at 506, 812 S.E.2d at 441; see also *Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 328, 730 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2012) (“Under the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become law of the case.” (quoting *Jones v. Lott*, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010))).

Even if the Court considers the merits of the issue, the circuit court properly found Jones Nissan is entitled to judgment as a matter of law on its conversion claim. Conversion is “the unauthorized assumption and exercise of the rights of ownership over goods or personal chattels

belonging to another, to the alteration of their condition or to the exclusion of the rights of the owner.” *Mullis v. Trident Emergency Physicians*, 351 S.C. 503, 506–07, 570 S.E.2d 549, 550 (Ct. App. 2002). Money may be the subject of conversion if “it is capable of being identified and there may be conversion of determinate sums even though the specific coins and bills are not identified.” *Id.* at 507, 570 S.E.2d at 551 (quoting *SSI Med. Servs., Inc. v. Cox*, 301 S.C. 493, 498, 392 S.E.2d 789, 792 (1990)).

Appellants funded the Merrill Lynch account with \$650,000.00, (Verification of Deposit, R. 382); *see also* (Merrill Lynch’s Answer to Am. Compl. ¶ 12), agreed to maintain a sufficient balance in the account at all times to cover the outstanding debt obligation, (Pledged Collateral Account Control Agr., R. 99–101; Pledge Agr., R. 104–07), and agreed that Jones Nissan was entitled to issue a notice and take exclusive control over the account if Appellants defaulted, (Pledged Collateral Account Control Agr. ¶ 6, R. 100; Pledge Agr. ¶¶ 1, 6, R. 104–05). Nonetheless, Appellants drained the account when they still owed Jones Nissan the determinative sum of \$389,555.98. (Aff. of James Jones ¶ 3, R. 237–38; Dep. of Terry Holmes at 109:21-25, R. 173). No genuine issue of material fact exists; Appellants unlawfully converted the funds in the account. The circuit court therefore properly granted summary judgment in favor of Jones Nissan on its conversion claim. *See Mullis*, 351 S.C. at 507, 570 S.E.2d at 551 (affirming a judgment on a conversion claim because the plaintiff identified a determinative sum improperly withheld by the defendant).

**C. The circuit court properly found no genuine issue of material fact exists as to the portions of Appellants’ counterclaims on which the circuit court granted summary judgment.**

Appellants assert counterclaims against Jones Nissan for breach of contract and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. (Defendants’ Answer to Am. Compl. ¶¶ 53–

62, R. 119–21). The claims are based in part on the same allegations Appellants raised in opposition to Jones Nissan’s summary judgment motion: that (1) Jones Nissan misrepresented material facts concerning the market value of the dealership, (2) Plaintiff charged “an exorbitant amount of rent to THAG in exchange for its use of the dealership property,” and (3) Plaintiff owned and operated a car dealership next door to THAG, in direct competition with THAG and in violation of the non-compete agreement contained within the parties contract. (*Id.*). The circuit court properly granted summary judgment in favor of Jones Nissan as to the counterclaims based on the above allegations.

Appellants bore the burden of coming forward with specific evidence supporting their allegations in response to Jones Nissan’s summary judgment motion. *See Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 115, 410 S.E.2d 537, 545 (1991) (“With respect to an issue upon which the nonmoving party bears the burden of proof, this initial responsibility ‘may be discharged by “showing”—that is, pointing out to the [trial] court—that there is an absence of evidence to support the nonmoving party’s case. . . . Once [the] moving party carries its initial burden, [the] opposing party must, under Rule 56(e), ‘do more than simply show that there is some metaphysical doubt as to the material facts’ but “must come forward with ‘specific facts showing that there is a *genuine issue for trial.*’” (first alteration in original)).

Appellants presented no evidence supporting any of their allegations that Jones Nissan breached either the express terms of the Asset Purchase Agreement or the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. In fact, Appellants never mentioned any alleged breaches by Jones Nissan until well after this litigation commenced. (Dep. of Terry Holmes at 115:5-25, R. 174). Appellants’ contention that THAG performed its obligations under the Asset Purchase Agreement is contradicted by numerous admissions outlined in this brief. Moreover, Appellants have not even

sued the correct entity for their lease-based allegations. *See* (Second Am. to Asset Purchase Agr., R. 93). Consequently, the circuit court properly granted summary judgment in favor of Jones Nissan on the portions of Appellants’ counterclaims that are based on the allegations recited above.

The only evidence Appellants presented in support of their counterclaims—and in opposition to Jones Nissan’s summary judgment motion—is an affidavit of Terry Holmes that merely recites the counterclaim allegations in affidavit form. The affidavit was a self-serving attempt by Holmes to create a sham issue of material fact supporting the counterclaims and defenses asserted by Appellants, and the circuit court properly gave the affidavit no weight. (Sept. 19, 2023 Order at 8–10, R. 13–15).

In the affidavit, Holmes claims, among other things, that THAG and Nissan of Sumter made the required monthly payments under the promissory note until “further performance” (i.e., continuing to make the monthly payments they agreed to make and had been making for 29 months) was “frustrated and rendered impossible” by Jones Nissan’s purported “non-performance/breaches.” (Aff. of Holmes ¶ 4, R. 474). As the circuit court properly found, however, Jones Nissan performed all of its obligations under the agreement at issue in this case. The only obligation remaining to be performed was Appellants’ obligation to continue making the agreed-upon monthly payments.

Moreover, the evidence in this case—particularly Holmes’ own prior testimony and statements—contradicts the affidavit. Holmes testified in his deposition that he had fallen into dire financial straits and had been forced to sell most of his dealerships and assets *before* he stopped making the required payments to Plaintiff. (Dep. of Terry Holmes at 111:6–115:25, R. 173–74). In August 2019, as he admitted during his deposition, he submitted a partial payment to Plaintiff with a letter stating,

Good Morning Mr Jones.

I am forwarding a check in the amount of \$2500.00. Due to the excessive debt and demands, I was forced to sell most of the dealerships and assets. I am forced to only send a portion of my payments as agreed upon. As i get my affairs in order, I intend to bring my payments back to the agreed upon amount. I appreciate your understanding in this matter, as I rectify my financial situation.

Sincerely  
Terry Holmes

(Aug. 2019 Letter and Cashier’s Check, R. 244; Dep. of Terry Holmes at 111:6–115:25, R. 173–74). In his deposition, Holmes admitted under oath that he prepared the letter because he “just wanted to let them know what the circumstances I was in and what my intent was.” (Dep. of Terry Holmes at 111:20-25, R. 173). Specifically, his financial circumstances were “highly impaired, greatly impaired and diminished by -- I don’t know -- 80, 90 percent” because he was “highly leveraged and . . . overleveraged,” and as a result he had been forced to sell four dealerships he owned. (*Id.* at 112:1–113:17, R. 173–74). He also admitted that he was obligated to pay Jones Nissan more than \$12,000 per month and that he intended to resume making the requirement payments if he could turn his two remaining dealerships around and “get those profitable.” (*Id.* at 113:18–114:22, R. 174). Thus, he admitted in his deposition that he stopped making the required payments because he could no longer afford to make them, not because of any act or omission by Jones Nissan.

Despite these admissions, Appellants pursued baseless counterclaims and defenses against Jones Nissan. Faced with an imminent hearing on Jones Nissan’s motion for summary judgment and no evidence supporting the counterclaims or defenses, Holmes recast the counterclaims in the form of an affidavit and filed it with the circuit court in an effort to manufacture issues of material “fact.” The affidavit is a sham and was properly disregarded by the circuit court.

A court may disregard an affidavit for purposes of summary judgment “when it was submitted ‘to contradict that party’s own prior sworn statement’ in ‘an attempt to create a sham issue of material fact.’” *McMaster v. Dewitt*, 411 S.C. 138, 149, 767 S.E.2d 451, 456 (Ct. App. 2014) (quoting *Cothran v. Brown*, 357 S.C. 210, 218, 592 S.E.2d 629, 633 (2004)). In deciding whether to disregard an affidavit because the affidavit is a sham, courts consider six factors:

(1) whether an explanation is offered for the statements that contradict prior sworn statements; (2) the importance to the litigation of the fact about which there is a contradiction; (3) whether the nonmovant had access to this fact prior to the previous sworn testimony; (4) the frequency and degree of variation between statements in the previous sworn testimony and statements made in the later affidavit concerning this fact; (5) whether the previous sworn testimony indicates the witness was confused at the time; (6) when, in relation to summary judgment, the second affidavit is submitted.

*Id.* Each of these factors is met by Holmes’ affidavit.

First, Appellants offered no explanation for the statements in the affidavit that contradicted Holmes’ prior sworn testimony. The affidavit merely states the contradictory “facts” as if the deposition testimony never occurred. Holmes “cannot create a conflict and resist summary judgment with an affidavit that . . . does not give a satisfactory explanation of why the testimony is changed.” *Id.* at 149, 767 S.E.2d at 457 (alteration in original) (affirming a trial court’s decision to disregard an affidavit because it “contains no justification” for the contradiction and “makes no reference to [the affiant’s] deposition testimony at all”). Second, the contradiction is important to the outcome of this litigation. Without the affidavit, Appellants had no evidence supporting their counterclaims or defenses. *Id.* (“Under this consideration, the more important the fact contradicted by the affidavit is to the outcome of litigation, the more likely a circuit court will be justified in refusing to consider the affidavit.”).

Third, Appellants had access to the purported “facts” in the affidavit—which are within Holmes’ personal knowledge—years before Holmes’ deposition, yet Holmes’ testimony under

oath in his deposition contradicts the affidavit. Fourth, the affidavit directly contradicts Holmes' deposition testimony. *Id.* ("Because his statement in the affidavit . . . directly contradicts his deposition testimony, this consideration weighs in favor of excluding the affidavit."). Fifth, Holmes' deposition testimony is clear and provides no indication that he was confused at the time. Finally, Appellants filed the affidavit *two days* before the scheduled hearing on Jones Nissan's motion for summary judgment. Thus, like the affidavit this Court held was properly disregarded in *McMaster*, the "last-minute submission of the affidavit indicates" Appellants were "attempting to create an issue of fact for purposes of summary judgment." *Id.* at 151, 767 S.E.2d at 458.

The Holmes affidavit was a transparent attempt to manufacture sham "facts" to defeat summary judgment by recasting Appellants' pleadings in affidavit form. The circuit court properly disregarded the affidavit and granted Jones Nissan's motion for summary judgment.

## **II. Appellants' arguments as to setoff and purported discovery issues are not properly before this Court.**

In addition to their arguments about whether summary judgment was warranted, Appellants argue (1) they are entitled to a setoff and (2) the circuit court should not have granted summary judgment based on purported discovery deficiencies. Neither argument is properly before this Court.

The circuit court has not ruled on Appellants' setoff arguments. In fact, in response to Appellants' Rule 59(e) motion, the circuit court expressly stated in its October 23, 2023 Form 4 order that it was *not* ruling on the issue: "Defendant's Motion to Reconsider the Court's order of 9-19-23 is granted insofar as the Court clarifies that the previous order makes no ruling on the issue of whether Defendants are entitled to a setoff or credit of any amounts previously tendered by Defendant Merrill Lynch." (Oct. 23, 2023 Form 4 Order, R. 18). Because the circuit court has not made any setoff ruling, the setoff issue is neither appealable nor preserved for this Court's

review. S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330; *Malloy v. Thompson*, 409 S.C. 557, 561, 762 S.E.2d 690, 692 (2014) (“At a minimum, issue preservation requires that an issue be raised to **and ruled upon** by the trial judge.” (emphasis added)). The Court should dismiss Appellants’ attempted appeal of any setoff issues.

Appellants’ discovery-related arguments are meritless and moot. (App. Br. 8–10). First, Appellants admit that Jones Nissan responded to their discovery requests on September 13, 2023—six days **before** the circuit court entered its order granting summary judgment. (App. Br. 9). If any issues remained that were relevant to Jones Nissan’s summary judgment motion, Appellants had plenty of time to raise those issues to the circuit court before the court entered its order. However, they did not raise any further discovery-related issues to the circuit court, either before or after the court entered its summary judgment order, other than their request that the circuit court order production of Jones Nissan’s settlement agreement with Merrill Lynch, which contained a confidentiality provision and could not be produced by Jones Nissan without a court order.<sup>4</sup> *See generally* (Motion to Reconsider, R. 476–78). Jones Nissan produced that settlement agreement once ordered to do so by the circuit court. Because Jones Nissan responded to Appellants’ discovery requests in full before the circuit court granted summary judgment, Appellants’ discovery-related arguments are moot.<sup>5</sup> *See Sloan v. Friends of Hunley, Inc.*, 369 S.C. 20, 26, 630

---

<sup>4</sup> The settlement agreement is relevant only to Appellants’ setoff argument, which has not been ruled upon by the circuit court and therefore is not before this Court. Regardless, Jones Nissan was precluded from voluntarily producing the settlement agreement based on a confidentiality provision in the agreement, but it has since produced the agreement to Appellants pursuant to a circuit court order.

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